



Ethos heat-health 65+ Qld Survey

Technical Report



Ethos Survey 2022- Technical Report

Author

Ethos Project Team- Aaron Bach, Connor Forbes, Ella Jackman, Mehak Oberai, Shannon Rutherford, Sebastian Binnewies, Steven Baker, and Zhiwei Xu

Published

2024

Copyright Statement

© 2024 Griffith University. All rights reserved. This report may not be copied, duplicated, transmitted, or used in any way in whole or in part or by any means (other than for the purposes of fair dealing, as defined in the Copyright Act 1968) without express permission in writing. Permission requests and enquiries concerning reproduction rights should be emailed to: s.rutherford@griffith.edu.au

Please Cite As:

Oberai, M., Jackman, E., Bach, A., Forbes, C., Binnewies, S., Baker, S., Xu, Z., & Rutherford, S. (2024). Ethos Survey 2022- Technical Report. The Ethos Project, Griffith University. Gold Coast, Queensland, Australia.

Contents

Acknowledgements	5
Executive summary	б
Acronyms and abbreviations	7
Introduction	8
	9
1. Sample size: target population	10
2. Survey design and development	10
2.1 Section I – Demographics	11
2.2. Section II – Heat health risk knowledge and experiences	11
2.3. Section III – Communication and cooling behaviours	12
2.4 Section IV – Digital technology usage and acceptance	12
2.5 Validity: construct validity and survey piloting	13
3. Survey Conduct (Administration method)	14
3.1 Survey (paper-mode) Recruitment Methods	15
4. Data collection, cleaning, and consolidation	16
5. Lessons learnt	17
References	19
Appendices	22
Appendix 1 (Flyers used for recruitment)	23
Appendix 2 (Survey questionnaire)	26
Appendix 3 (Media channels utilised for survey recruitment)	48

This document serves as a comprehensive guide tailored for researchers, academics, and policy makers. It offers a detailed exposition of the methodology employed during the survey tool's development process, aimed at facilitating the nuanced comprehension of the survey outcomes.

For information on demographics and sample representativeness please see Ethos Project: Policy Maker Report for the 2022 Heat Health and Digital Technology Survey (11-12).

Acknowledgements

"This research was funded in whole by the Wellcome Trust [224709/Z/21/Z: 'Individualised heathealth early warning systems: A novel digital solution']. For the purpose of open access, the author has applied a CC BY public copyright licence to any Author Accepted Manuscript version arising from this submission."

The survey described in this report was commissioned by Griffith University's Ethos Research Team. The survey was conducted by mainly Ethos core team members, Aaron Bach, Connor Forbes, Ella Jackman, Mehak Oberai, Sebastian Binnewies, Shannon Rutherford, Steven Baker, and Zhiwei Xu. Other members of the Ethos whole of team who provided valuable contributions to the content of the questionnaire included Sarah Cunningham, Dung Phung and Son Nghiem.

Graham Bradley and Louis Houston gave excellent expert feedback in their relevant areas. The team from Qualtrics played a vital role in survey build, recruiting participants from their panel, and implementing the survey. Their diligence and flexibility in performing these roles is very much appreciated.

"Appreciation is also extended to the 547 Respondents who completed the online and paperbased questionnaire".

Executive summary

The escalating impact of extreme and unprecedented heatwaves, attributed to global climate change, has resulted in adverse consequences, including increased mortality and morbidity across various regions worldwide. Notably, Spain, Portugal, and Europe have witnessed significant casualties due to recent heatwaves. Australia, experiencing a 1.5°C temperature rise since 1910, faces escalating challenges, particularly for older populations, contributing to heightened mortality rates during heatwaves.

The survey was a planned activity of the first year of the Ethos (Extreme Heat in Older Persons) project, a comprehensive initiative in Queensland. The project aims to identify vulnerability among older Queenslanders by developing an in-home solution to monitor heat exposure, assess risks, and support appropriate responses. The report centres on a sub-study conducted during the first year—a user survey targeting Queenslanders aged 65 and above.

Aligned with the theoretical framework proposed by Garcia and Fearnley, the Ethos project revolves around four key elements: risk knowledge, monitoring, communication, and response capability. To understand the perspectives of the target population, a state-wide survey was conducted, covering key areas such as knowledge and attitudes towards heat as a health problem, behaviour during heat events, and the attitude and use of personal and monitoring technologies.

The survey design and administration process are crucial components highlighted in this report. By addressing critical questions related to heat knowledge, coping strategies, and technology accessibility, the survey serves as a valuable tool to gather insights from older Queenslanders. The ultimate goal is to enhance preparedness and response capabilities, ensuring the well-being of vulnerable populations during extreme heat events.

This report offers a concise overview of the survey's purpose, emphasizing its relevance for researchers, stakeholders, and individuals interested in developing similar surveys or utilizing the survey tool employed by the Ethos project.

Acronyms and abbreviations

EWS	Early Warning System
Ethos	Extreme heat and older persons
ABS	Australian Bureau of Statistics
AIHW	Australian Institute of Health and Welfare
UCLA	University of California, Los Angeles
CAS	Climate Action Survey
STAM	Senior Technology Acceptance model
OEQs	Open ended questions
CEQs	Close ended questions
ATT	Attitude towards usage of technology
BNE	Brisbane
QLD	Queensland
CATI	Computer assisted telephonic interviews

Introduction

Extreme and unprecedented heatwaves leading to hot days, warm nights, and extended periods of elevated temperatures have been witnessed across different parts of the world, from Europe, Asia, North Africa to Middle East during the last few summers. This is a consequence of rising earth temperatures due to climate change^{1,2}. These heatwaves have resulted in increased mortality and morbidities among our populations³. For instance, in Spain and Portugal, 1700 deaths have occurred solely due to the recent heatwaves of 2022^{1,2} and over 70,000 excessive deaths occurred in whole of Europe for the 2022 summer³.

Australia has warmed by 1.5°C up since 1910 and the number, frequency, and intensity of heatwave days in the country is increasing⁴. Rising temperatures result in increased morbidity and mortality rates particularly in older people (especially among those with pre-existing health conditions and aged above 65yrs)⁵. Indeed, risk of mortality increased by 5% during heatwaves, putting increased pressure on healthcare services including emergency department visits, hospital admissions, and ambulance dispatches in Queensland between 2010 and 2019⁶. Understanding vulnerability is key to adequately preparing and responding to extreme events, including heat. Older populations are one group of our society who are particularly vulnerable to heat. This vulnerability is driven by a combination of physical, socio-economic, and physiological factors^{5,7}. The Ethos (Extreme Heat in Older Persons) project aims to better identify vulnerability among older Queenslanders by developing an in-home solution to monitor heat exposure, identify risk, and support appropriate response to heat associated risks. This report focuses on a year 1 sub-study of the larger study - a user survey of older Queenslanders (65 and above), which sits under the umbrella of the larger project.

Core to the Ethos project is the theoretical concept proposed by an early warning systems framework by Garcia and Fearnley⁸. This tested framework commonly utilised at a population level to manage disaster and extreme weather risks, is framed around four key elements: risk knowledge, monitoring, communication, and response capability⁸. To achieve the Ethos project goals, it is critical to understand views and perspectives of our target population. To this end we undertook a state-wide survey of older people in Queensland to understand their heat and health risk knowledge, heat coping strategies, and accessibility to and use of digital technologies. The key areas addressed by this survey to fulfill this aim include:

- Knowledge and attitude towards heat as a health problem: this section focussed on knowledge, attitudes, perception, and experience of extreme heat conditions and the impact of the heatwaves on health of the respondents.
- **Behaviour when responding to heat stress and heat event messaging:** The survey questions in this section were formulated around: How do people currently respond to increased heat? What messaging are they currently receiving, and does it change their behaviour? How do older people in Queensland monitor and respond to heat as a health problem?
- Attitude and use of personal and monitoring technologies: The key research questions used to formulate survey questions in this section were: Do they have access to and use personal or monitoring technologies? and What are their perceptions of use (and barriers to use) of current and emerging personal and monitoring technologies?



Figure 1. Timeline of survey processes

1. Sample size: target population

Sample size determination is an important aspect to consider for attaining accuracy with the data collected, as sample is an approximate microcosm of the population. According to Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS), population in Queensland is around 5.2 million with older people accounting for 16-17% of this population⁹. Assuming the population of older Queenslanders to be approximately 850,000, a survey sample of at least 384 was required for the results to meet 95% confidence level with 5% margin error.

Queensland, the third largest state in Australia, has varied climate zones ranging from tropical to hot arid⁹. With different climatic conditions the impact of heatwaves can be felt differently, and people may be using different behavioural strategies to cope with heat. To capture these nuances in our survey we applied climate zone quota to our online sample. This was based on the proportion of population in each zone-11% for climate zone 1, 81% for zone 2, 3% for zone 3, and 5% for zone 5⁹.

No age or gender quotas were applied as it is very challenging to target respondents over the age of 65 or above in online panels. Applying these quotas would have had a negative impact on the feasibility and data collection times for the survey. Instead, only climate zone quotas were applied.

2. Survey design and development

As the primary goal of the Ethos project is to develop an individualised early warning system (EWS) for people aged 65 and above, collecting information from this age group was one way to improve our understanding of the potential user group, with regards to heat, health, and digital technology. Using this survey as a tool helped us gain an insight of the perspectives and views of older Queenslanders regarding the problem under study.

The survey was loosely structured on Garcia's and Fernley's⁸ EWS framework (Figure 1). Early warning systems are used in disaster risk management to provide timely warnings to populations at risk. These warning systems are people centred with four key components: i) risk knowledge, ii) detection, monitoring, and forecasting, iii) building response capacity and preparedness, and iv) communication or dissemination of information. The Ethos survey was an omnibus survey designed with no specific hypothesis, but rather to collect data on the four key areas including demographics. The sections were designed with three key objectives to determine: i) knowledge and attitude towards heat as a health problem, ii) attitudes and use of personal and monitoring technologies, and iii) behaviours in responding to heat stress and messaging so as to inform the development of our designed system.



Figure 2. EWS framework linked to the survey objectives.

2.1 Section I – Demographics

This section included background information about the respondents incorporating social, economic, and physiological factors. It also included a subsection on individual health and co-morbidities so as to develop an increased understanding of our target population's health status. The questions in this section were based of standard questionnaires of ABS, Australian Institute of Health and Welfare (AIHW)¹¹, adapted from Griffith University's Climate Action Survey (CAS)¹², National Seniors Australia¹³, and Queensland household energy surveys¹⁴⁻¹⁵. The UCLA loneliness¹⁶ scale was also used to assess the level of social engagement in the respondents. Existing literature underscores the significance of all these factors as key determinants shaping individual responses during periods of very or extremely high temperatures.

2.2. Section II - Heat health risk knowledge and experiences

Section II of the survey was linked to the risk knowledge component of the EWS framework. The questions in this section were designed to access the level of knowledge that people have relating to extreme heat or very hot weather, to identify their perceptions about heat as a problem in general and heat as a problem to them personally (i.e., affecting their lives and living circumstances), and to gather information about their heat/extreme heat related experiences (targeted towards their health).

This section was mainly derived or adapted from surveys conducted by van Loenhout and Guha-Sapir¹⁷, Nitschke et al ¹⁸⁻¹⁹, Soebarto et al²⁰, Hansen²¹⁻²², Van Hoof et al²³, National Health Australia Survey (2020-21)²⁴, CAS survey¹², Sweltering Cities Summer Survey²⁵, ASHRAE SCALE (Bills et al²⁶), and Kosatsky at al²⁷.



Figure 3. Overview of the four key sections of the survey linked to objectives and EWS framework.

2.3. Section III - Communication and cooling behaviours

Section III was based on the response capability, warning, and communication component of the EWS framework. The section gathered information about the respondent's knowledge of the existing systems of heatwave warnings and their preferences regarding sources for disseminating heatwave warnings and heat preparedness information.

It also includes a subsection aimed at identifying information about behaviour and response to heat and heat warnings. These questions aimed to collect information about help seeking behaviour, who they contacted during their time of need, heat adaptive modifications that they have installed or would like to install, and any factors or issues that prevented them from making changes to their home. These sections were based on the research of Soebarto et al²⁰, Sweltering Cities summer survey²⁵, Van Hoof et al²³, Sheridan (2007)²⁸, Nitschke et al¹⁸⁻¹⁹, Madrigano et al²⁹, Erens et al³⁰, Howe et al³¹, Khare et al³², Lefevre et al³³, Loughnan et al³⁴⁻³⁵, Lane et al³⁶, Lee & Shaman³⁷, and adapted from the CAS survey¹².

The final subsection focussed on air conditioning use. This section is important as air conditioner usage is a common solution to deal with extreme heat but has negative effects on the environment as it requires a high amount of energy and contributes to greenhouse gas emissions. Further it is expensive to run. The questions in this section focussed on various aspects of air-conditioning use- what time of day, at what temperature, and if they did not have, or did not using air-conditioning, exploring the reasons for this (Lee and Sharman³⁷, Richard et al³⁸).

2.4 Section IV – Digital technology usage and acceptance

A key part of the Ethos system is an in-home device that issues alerts. Section IV of the survey was based on the monitoring, and communication component of the EWS framework. The aim of the questions in the section was to understand experiences and interest of the target group around technologies. It drew on the Senior Technology Acceptance model (STAM)³⁹ to gather data about frequency, trends, ability,

barriers, comfort, and confidence of older people in using digital technology and services. Table 1 describes the linkage of each question in section IV to STAM theory (Li 2016⁴⁰, ACMA 2018⁴¹, Anderson 2017⁴², National Senior Australia⁴³, Thomas et al⁴⁴, He et al 2013⁴⁵, Vaportzis et al⁴⁶, Sun et al⁴⁷, Heponiemi et al⁴⁸, Chen et al⁴⁹).

Questions	Factors of STAM accessed
K1, K3, K18A	Attitude towards using technology (ATT)
K2, K4, K5, K14, K16	Usage of technology
K6, K8	Frequency of usage
К7	Perceived usefulness, attitude towards technology usage
K9, K15	Gereontechnology self-efficacy
K10, K11	Confidence and perceived ease of use
K12, K18B, K18F	Perceived usefulness
K13	Facilitating conditions
K17, K19	For our designing component
K18C, K18D	Perceived ease of use
K18E, K18G	Facilitating conditions
K20, 21	Economics component
K22	OEQ

Table 1. Linkage of each question in section IV to STAM theory

2.5 Validity: construct validity and survey piloting.

The survey was piloted with the user group (6 respondents for paper-based survey and 30 people from the panel of Qualtrics for the online mode). The survey was estimated to take approximately 25 minutes to complete online and 35-40 minutes when done on paper. During the piloting phase, the survey questionnaire was developed and shared with the stakeholders/experts across the fields of public health, heat-health epidemiology, sociology physiology, and digital technology to determine the content of the survey. This process contributed to the confidence in the content and face validity of the survey. Additionally, the survey was developed based upon already existing surveys¹¹⁻²³ and adapted to the Queensland context, with the addition of further questions specific to this context developed in collaboration with major stakeholders.

Construct validity was determined by arranging a few questions in descending and ascending order scales. This according to literature is useful in reducing the response bias, especially in Likert scale questions⁵³. All this process resulted in the development of a 144 questions long survey tool with 141 closed ended questions (CEQ) and 3 key open-ended questions (OEQ).

3. Survey Conduct (Administration method)

The Ethos Heat-health survey of older Queenslanders was administered through two modes:

- 1. Online via panel (conducted in Early November 2022): A survey company was contracted to implement the online survey using its panel method. The company was chosen because of the quality processes it offers around data collection with bot screening in place along with its commitment to provide the desired sample size using climate zone quotas. First, to test and refine the survey questionnaire to be used for the main study, a pilot study was conducted on 43 Older Queenslanders selected randomly from the professional survey provider's volunteer panel. The results helped us refine the final questionnaire before continuing the main study. A sample of 412 Queenslanders aged 65 and above completed the online questionnaire modified after the pilot testing. These people were randomly selected from the company's volunteer panel.
- 2. Paper-based (Mid-September till Early- December 2022): The aim was to recruit a sample size of around 120 Queenslanders aged 75 and above to complete the same paper-based version of the online questionnaire following pilot testing of 5 people in the target population, then refinement. The main sample was recruited through formal networks with project partners (by advertising using flyers [see Appendix 1] with requests to contact the project team to facilitate the posting of questionnaires to a mailing or email address) and informal networks. This sample was also recruited through newspaper advertisements as highlighted in the next section. This mode and age focus was chosen:
 - to reduce bias around digital technology use, as this was a key component of the survey, and
 - digital technology and the internet usage is less prominent in Australians over the age of 75, compared to Australians aged 65-74⁵⁰.

TARGET POPULATION	Queenslanders aged 65 and above.
FINAL SAMPLE SIZE	412 (online) & 135 (paper-based)
ADMINISTRATION	Self-Administration through online and paper- based modes
SURVEY LENGTH	25 minutes (approximately)
SURVEY TIMING	Sept- Nov ,2022

3.1 Survey (paper-mode) Recruitment Methods

On the 15th of September, the paper-based survey was officially launched at the 2022 Brisbane Care Expo. Following the Expo, the survey was promoted to personal networks of the whole Ethos team, which included family, friends, colleagues, and the network of our reference group member.

Griffith University networks were also utilised, promoting the survey through the Griffith staff newsletter and the Griffith volunteers' page. Survey flyers were distributed and displayed on campus notice boards, Griffith Health Clinics, and Griffith Dental Clinics. Care was taken to meet all ethical guidelines while promoting the survey.

A variety of media channels were used to promote the survey and increase awareness of heat as a health issue for older Queenslanders. These included printed media such as newspapers, magazines, and local newsletters, as well as online news and social media outlets and radio interviews reaching all areas across Far- North to Western parts of Queensland. The most successful recruitment channels (media outlets) used were the Senior, Your Time, Ipswich Local news, and 50 & Better magazines (refer to Table 3). For a complete list of news outlets, see appendix C. Survey was also promoted on social media channels mainly, LinkedIn and Facebook. This resulted in 202 surveys sent out and 138 surveys received.

Table 3: Most successful media outlets for recruitment

Gold Coast's Over Fifties' Magazine	Your Local Newsletters Read Online
Griffith Staff Newsletter	Older participants needed for survey into
	the effects of extreme heat
	<u>(sharepoint.com)</u>
Your Time Magazine (Sunshine Coast and BNE)	Your Time Magazine November 2022
The Senior Newspaper (QLD)	The Senior Read Online



Figure 4. Ethos survey recruitment i) article in Your Time (left), and iv) article in Over 50's magazine (right)

4. Data collection, cleaning, and consolidation

Data collection and entry are vital steps in the survey process that impact the quality, reliability, and usability of the survey results. By ensuring accuracy, validity, and ethical considerations, researchers can leverage survey data to derive valuable insights and make informed decisions. Steps taken to ensure data quality included:

- For paper-based questionnaire, data was entered using the data codes set for the online questionnaire. This maintained uniformity and assisted the merging process of online and paper data.
- Data entry was conducted by numerous members of the research team- 10% of data was double checked.
- Quality checks were conducted via a Python program to find any outliers or records that did not meet match the quality check criteria.
- The online data collected by Qualtrics were subjected to bot checks and validity checks as per company explanatory notes and the research team also ran quality checks to find outliers or responses that did not meet the desired criteria.

Following these steps, the online and paper-based data was merged for data analysis. This merging was considered appropriate because the survey questionnaire was identical for both modes of survey administration and data collection. Moreover, few questions (K2 and K4) from the digital section were utilised to find if there were key differences in characteristics of paper and online respondents before merging the datasets.

5. Lessons learnt

Various lessons were learnt through the Ethos survey process (timeline in Figure 1) from design to data cleaning. The key lessons learnt are highlighted below:

Survey design & development

- There was a lack of validated survey tools to measure heat health risk knowledge and perception.
- Questions and survey scales required adaption based on older Australians.
- Surveys need to be designed in a way that is clear to understand of an appropriate length considering the target population.
- Providing an *"other"* as option helped to capture some nuanced responses in the population.
- Piloting with experts and target sample was key to the development of an easy-to-understand survey which captures the required information.

Recruitment and Reach

- Partnering with a trusted panel company for an online mode of the survey was important. They had appropriate quality checks and bot checks in place, which ensured high quality in data collected.
- While paper-based surveys allowed us to reduce bias, the strategy required significant investment in communication team resources and required more time to ensure that target numbers are met.
- Radio interviews were not deemed as a successful way to recruit participants for the survey, instead newspaper articles were major channels that helped with recruiting participants for the paperbased survey.
- Fear of scamming was an issue for our population due to the data collection phase coinciding with a carrier data leakage problem.
- Timeliness is key: Have a recruitment plan and connect with media sources in timely manner. Know deadlines for publications as timelines for most media channels are pre-determined. Additionally, it is good to start connecting with the right people before recruitment. Start reaching out approximately 2 months in advance from the date you want your article to be published. This is important in the case of time-based studies where surveys or research is open for a limited time period.

• Communication is key: Be clear and adaptable: Adapting your communication depending on the target population and their knowledge. For instance, we had to be mindful in using terms such as "climate change" as this led to disinterest in some with comments like: "love the heat", "it has always been hot".

Hard to reach parts of Queensland



- It was hard to reach the local newspapers in regional areas, specially in climate zone 3.
- Because of the lack of support from media channels to publish about our research, the survey and the general disregard of heat as an issue (for example, "not issue, as they can turn on their air conditioner", or "heat is not something they were concerned of" or "they don't need digital devices") it was very difficult to recruit people from climate zone 1, 3, and 5.

Heat not being considered as an issue- Need to increase heat-health risk awareness and perception.

- Cool summers over the past 2-3 years led to more concern about the cold, floods or Covid 19.
- Lack of awareness regarding heat being a health issue.

This is likely to change since 2023-24 summer has been hot and humid as evident from 15 BOM heatwave alerts being issued this summer.

References

- 1. Chapter 1 Global Warming of 1.5 oC [Internet]. [cited 2022 Jul 27]. Available from: https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/chapter/chapter-1/
- 2. Heatwave in Europe: local resilience saves lives global collaboration will save humanity [Internet]. [cited 2022 Jul 25]. Available from: <u>https://www.who.int/europe/news/item/22-07-2022-heatwave-in-europe-local-resilience-saves-lives---global-collaboration-will-save-humanity</u>
- 3. Ballester, J., Quijal-Zamorano, M., Méndez Turrubiates, R.F. et al. Heat-related mortality in Europe during the summer of 2022. Nat Med 29, 1857–1866 (2023). <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-023-02419-z</u>
- 4. The 2022 report of the MJA-Lancet Countdown on health and climate change: Australia unprepared and paying the price | The Medical Journal of Australia [Internet]. [cited 2023 Mar 6]. Available from: <u>https://www.mja.com.au/journal/2022/217/9/2022-report-mja-lancet-countdown-health-and-climate-change-australia-unprepared</u>
- 5. Ebi KL, Capon A, Berry P, Broderick C, de Dear R, Havenith G, et al. Hot weather and heat extremes: health risks. The Lancet. 2021 Aug;398(10301):698–708.
- 6. Mason HM, King JC, Peden AE, Watt K, Bosley E, Fitzgerald G, et al. Determining the Impact of Heatwaves on Emergency Ambulance Calls in Queensland: A Retrospective Population-Based Study. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2023 Mar 10;20(6):4875.
- Yang T, Crossman S, Jakab M. Project Steering Committee. :40. https://www.pean.gov.au/sites/default/files/2021-10/BOM%20%282021%29%20Heatwaves%20report.pdf
- Garcia C, Fearnley C. Evaluating Critical Links in Early Warning Systems for Natural Hazards. Environmental Hazards. 2012 Jun 1;11:123–37.
- 9. Snapshot of Queensland | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Aug 29]. Available from: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/articles/snapshot-qld-2021</u>
- Purdie DM, Dunne MP, Boyle FM, Cook MD, Najman JM. Health and demographic characteristics of respondents in an Australian national sexuality survey: comparison with population norms. Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health. 2002 Oct 1;56(10):748-53.
- 11. Chronic conditions and multimorbidity [Internet]. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. [cited 2022 Jul 8]. Available from: <u>https://www.aihw.gov.au/reports/australias-health/chronic-conditions-and-multimorbidity</u>
- 12. Graham Bradley, Sameer Deshpande, Kerrie Foxwell-Norton,, Natasha Hennessey and Melissa Jackson. Climate Action Survey Summary for Policy and Decision Making [Internet]. 2022. Available from: <u>https://www.griffith.edu.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0024/1538304/Climate-Action-Survey-Summary-for-Policy-and-Decision-Making.pdf</u>
- 13. National Seniors Australia. Older Australians' digital engagement in turbulent times [Internet]. National Seniors Australia. [cited 2022 Jul 4]. Available from: <u>https://nationalseniors.com.au/research/digital-literacy/older-australians-digital-engagement</u>
- 14. Queensland Household Energy Survey (2020) [Internet]. Available from: https://www.theenergycharter.com.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/QHES-2020-Report.pdf
- 15. Queensland Household Energy Survey (2020) [Internet]. Available from: https://www.powerlink.com.au/sites/default/files/2022-08/2022%20Queensland%20Household%20Energy%20Survey%20Report.pdf
- 16. Russel et al, 1978. UCLA Loneliness SCALE [Internet]. Available from: https://www.icmha.org/wpcontent/uploads/2020/02/UCLA-Loneliness-Scale.pdf.
- 17. van Loenhout JAF, Guha-Sapir D. How resilient is the general population to heatwaves? A knowledge survey from the ENHANCE project in Brussels and Amsterdam. BMC Research Notes. 2016 Nov 28;9(1):499.
- 18. Nitschke M, Krackowizer A, Hansen AL, Bi P, Tucker GR. Heat Health Messages: A Randomized Controlled Trial of a Preventative Messages Tool in the Older Population of South Australia. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017 Sep;14(9):992.
- 19. Nitschke M, Hansen A, Bi P, Pisaniello D, Newbury J, Kitson A, et al. Risk Factors, Health Effects and Behaviour in Older People during Extreme Heat: A Survey in South Australia. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2013 Dec;10(12):6721–33.
- 20. Soebarto V, Bennetts H, Hansen A, Zuo J, Williamson T, Pisaniello D, et al. Living environment, heatingcooling behaviours and well-being: Survey of older South Australians. Building and Environment. 2019 Jun 15;157:215-26.

- 21. Hansen A, Bi P, Pisaniello D, Nitschke M, Tucker G, Newbury J, et al. Heat-health behaviours of older people in two Australian states. Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2015;34(1):E19–25.
- 22. Hansen A, Bi P, Nitschke M, Pisaniello D, Newbury J, Kitson A. Perceptions of Heat-Susceptibility in Older Persons: Barriers to Adaptation. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2011 Dec;8(12):4714–28.
- van Hoof J, Bennetts H, Hansen A, Kazak JK, Soebarto V. The Living Environment and Thermal Behaviours of Older South Australians: A Multi-Focus Group Study. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2019 Jan;16(6):935.
- 24. National Health Survey: First Results methodology, 2020-21 | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 6]. Available from: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/methodologies/national-health-survey-first-results-methodology/2020-21</u>
- 25. Sweltering Cities and Healthy Homes for Renters. Summer Survey 2022 Report. [Internet]. 2022. Available from: https://swelteringcities.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/04/FINAL-Summer-Survey-2022-Report.pdf
- 26. Bills R, Soebarto V, Williamson T. Thermal experiences of older people during hot conditions in Adelaide. :9.
- 27. Kosatsky T, Dufresne J, Richard L, Renouf A, Giannetti N, Bourbeau J, et al. Heat awareness and response among Montreal residents with chronic cardiac and pulmonary disease. Can J Public Health. 2009 Jun;100(3):237–40.
- 28. Sheridan SC. A survey of public perception and response to heat warnings across four North American cities: an evaluation of municipal effectiveness. Int J Biometeorol. 2007 Oct 1;52(1):3–15.
- 29. Madrigano J, Lane K, Petrovic N, Ahmed M, Blum M, Matte T. Awareness, Risk Perception, and Protective Behaviors for Extreme Heat and Climate Change in New York City. International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health. 2018 Jul;15(7):1433.
- Erens B, Williams L, Exley J, Ettelt S, Manacorda T, Hajat S, et al. Public attitudes to, and behaviours taken during, hot weather by vulnerable groups: results from a national survey in England. BMC Public Health. 2021 Sep 6;21(1):1631.
- 31. Howe PD, Marlon JR, Wang X, Leiserowitz A. Public perceptions of the health risks of extreme heat across US states, counties, and neighborhoods. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2019 Apr 2;116(14):6743–8.
- 32. Khare S, Hajat S, Kovats S, Lefevre CE, de Bruin WB, Dessai S, et al. Heat protection behaviour in the UK: results of an online survey after the 2013 heatwave. BMC Public Health. 2015 Sep 10;15(1):878.
- Lefevre CE, Bruine de Bruin W, Taylor AL, Dessai S, Kovats S, Fischhoff B. Heat protection behaviors and positive affect about heat during the 2013 heat wave in the United Kingdom. Social Science & Medicine. 2015 Mar 1;128:282–9.
- 34. Loughnan ME, Carroll M, Tapper N. Learning from our older people: Pilot study findings on responding to heat. Australasian Journal on Ageing. 2014;33(4):271–7.
- 35. Loughnan M, Carroll M, Tapper NJ. The relationship between housing and heat wave resilience in older people. Int J Biometeorol. 2015 Sep;59(9):1291-8.
- 36. Lane K, Wheeler K, Charles-Guzman K, Ahmed M, Blum M, Gregory K, et al. Extreme Heat Awareness and Protective Behaviors in New York City. J Urban Health. 2014 Jun 1;91(3):403–14.
- 37. Lee WV, Shaman J. Heat-coping strategies and bedroom thermal satisfaction in New York City. Science of The Total Environment. 2017 Jan 1;574:1217–31.
- Richard L, Kosatsky T, Renouf A. Correlates of hot day air-conditioning use among middle-aged and older adults with chronic heart and lung diseases: the role of health beliefs and cues to action. Health Education Research. 2011 Feb 1;26(1):77–88.
- 39. Jarvis MA, Sartorius B, Chipps J. Technology acceptance of older persons living in residential care. Information Development. 2020 Sep 1;36(3):339-53.
- 40. Li Q, Luximon Y. Older Adults and Digital Technology: A Study of User Perception and Usage Behavior. In: Goonetilleke R, Karwowski W, editors. Advances in Physical Ergonomics and Human Factors. Cham: Springer International Publishing; 2016. p. 155–63. (Advances in Intelligent Systems and Computing).
- 41. Authority AC and M. The digital lives of older Australians: Methodology | ACMA [Internet]. Australian Communications and Media Authority; 1621897165 [cited 2022 Jul 4]. Available from: https://www.acma.gov.au/publications/2021-05/report/digital-lives-older-australians-methodology
- 42. Monica Anderson. Technology use among seniors | Pew Research Center [Internet]. [cited 2022 Jul 4]. Available from: <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/internet/2017/05/17/technology-use-among-seniors/</u>
- 43. National Seniors Australia [Internet]. 2022 [cited 2023 Sep 7]. Older Australians' digital engagement in turbulent times. Available from: https://nationalseniors.com.au/research/social-connectedness-communities/older-australians-digital-engagement

- 44. Thomas J, Barraket J, Parkinson S, Et Al. Measuring Australia's digital divide: the Australian digital inclusion index 2021 [Internet]. RMIT University; 2021 [cited 2022 Jun 23]. Available from: https://apo.org.au/node/314284
- 45. He BJ, Zhao D, Xiong K, Qi J, Ulpiani G, Pignatta G, et al. A framework for addressing urban heat challenges and associated adaptive behavior by the public and the issue of willingness to pay for heat resilient infrastructure in Chongqing, China. Sustainable Cities and Society. 2021 Dec 1;75:103361.
- 46. Vaportzis E, Giatsi Clausen M, Gow AJ. Older Adults Perceptions of Technology and Barriers to Interacting with Tablet Computers: A Focus Group Study. Front Psychol. 2017 Oct 4;8:1687.
- 47. Sun X, Yan W, Zhou H, Wang Z, Zhang X, Huang S, et al. Internet use and need for digital health technology among the elderly: a cross-sectional survey in China. BMC Public Health. 2020 Sep 11;20(1):1386.
- 48. Heponiemi T, Kaihlanen AM, Kouvonen A, Leemann L, Taipale S, Gluschkoff K. The role of age and digital competence on the use of online health and social care services: A cross-sectional population-based survey. DIGITAL HEALTH. 2022 Jan 1;8:20552076221074484.
- 49. Chen K, Lou VWQ. Measuring Senior Technology Acceptance: Development of a Brief, 14-Item Scale. Innovation in Aging. 2020 May 1;4(3):igaa016.
- 50. Use of information technology by people with disability, older people and primary carers | Australian Bureau of Statistics [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2022 Jul 28]. Available from: <u>https://www.abs.gov.au/articles/use-information-technology-people-disability-older-people-and-primary-carers</u>
- 51. Brown S. Likert Scale Examples for Surveys. :4.
- 52. Australian Centre for Broadband Innovation, CSIRO Digital Productivity and Services Flagship. Household internet use in Australia: A study in regional communities. :56.
- 53. (Yonnie) Chyung SY, Kennedy M, Campbell I. Evidence-Based Survey Design: The Use of Ascending or Descending Order of Likert-Type Response Options. Performance Improvement. 2018;57(9):9–16.